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purpose & objectives

AoA is the peak body in Australia for training orthopaedic 
surgeons to world-class standards, assuring and advancing 
the quality of surgical practice and representing the 
professional interests of members.

•	 to foster and maintain the highest standard of surgical practice and ethics in orthopaedic surgery

•	 to advance the practice of orthopaedic surgery

•	 to promote research into musculoskeletal conditions

•	 to provide postgraduate education in orthopaedic surgery and, as necessary, accreditation in orthopaedic surgery

•	 to support orthopaedic humanitarian initiatives in Australia and overseas

•	 to foster scientific interchange between orthopaedic surgeons

•	 to act as an authority and adviser in relation to musculoskeletal conditions and orthopaedic surgery

A U S T R A L I A N 
O R T H O P A E D I C
A S S O C I A T I O N

AOA

oBJEctivEs oF tHE AustRAliAn oRtHopAEDic AssociAtion 

s tAt EMEnt oF puRposE
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AOA 21 LAunch
Key strategic initiative AoA 21 – Excellence in orthopaedic surgical Education 
and training – launched october 2013 

AOA 21 ImpLementAtIOn 
implementation of AoA 21 enthusiastically embraced and, as at the July 2014 
Board Meeting, is progressing ahead of plan

AOAnJRR StRAtegIc RevIew
implementation of the AoAnJRR strategic review recommendations 
completed and/or substantially addressed

SeRvIce AgReement mAtRIx
the Australian Medical council (AMc) identified the service activity matrix for 
training (pioneered by AoA) in the service agreements between AoA and the 
Royal Australasian college of surgeons (RAcs) as a major innovation

Independent tRAInIng 
cOStIng RevIew

AoA commissioned an independent expert to undertake a detailed and 
‘forensic’ activity-based costing review of the training activities provided by 
AoA for orthopaedic trainees

2013–2015 StRAtegIc pLAn
the implementation of all key deliverables identified in the 2013–2015 strategic 
plan has been completed and/or substantially progressed

nAtIOnAL ORthOpAedIc 
StRAtegIc ReSeARch FORum

An inaugural national orthopaedic strategic research forum involving allied 
health professionals and AoA members was held in november 2013

YOung LeAdeRS the 2nd successful young leaders’ Forum was held in Melbourne november 2013

cOnStItutIOn RevIew
proposals for amendments to the constitution were debated over the past two 
years and are to be considered at the Annual General Meeting in october 2014

BOARd eFFectIveneSS Board completed its first ever Board effectiveness review in February 2014

memBeRShIp gROwth AoA membership exceeds 1550

cOnFeRenceS And eventS AoA conference and Events portfolio of meetings grows to 24 (0 in 2011)

AdvOcAcY
Advocacy, profile and branding effectiveness increases; the value of media 
coverage over the past 12 months has grown to $4.9m ($1.2m last year)

memBeR SeRvIceS
Member satisfaction increases to 90% (85% in 2012), with five functions (from 
one in 2012) scoring 90% and above

cOmmunIcAtIOn
communication activities are becoming more relevant with increased online 
engagement with members

InteRnAtIOnAL 
ReLAtIOnShIpS

Global profile and branding solidified through participation at international 
consortium of Registries (icoR), international society of Arthroplasty Registries 
(isAR), international Medical Education leaders’ Forum (iMElF) and Asia pacific 
Economic cooperation (ApEc) Business Ethics Forum

heAd OFFIce
Member satisfaction with AoA head office records highest ever score: 96% 
(95% in 2013)

KEy HiGHliGHts
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the aspiration of the Australian orthopaedic 
Association (AoA) to go from good to great was 
facilitated by the signing of the new agreement 
between the Royal Australasian college of surgeons 
(RAcs) and AoA. this signalled the start of a 
relationship between the two bodies that recognises 
the place and leadership of AoA in the training of 
future orthopaedic surgeons. 

AoA’s work on education and training – together with 
its achievements in the areas of research, advocacy, 
and engagement – have kept the AoA Board, 
Executive and professional staff fully occupied over 
the last 12 months.

AOA 21

Branding of our educational aspirations has helped 
to focus our efforts on what we are trying to achieve: 
excellence in a 21st century training program  
by 2021. 

ian incoll, chair of Education and training, has led 
an energetic team of experts and educationalists to 

design and develop a training program of the future. 
in this process, he has engaged the subspecialties and 
AoA membership, both senior and junior, to be part 
of the important groups that have been charged with 
reviewing and developing the curriculum, assessment, 
and module development. ian has also been supported 
by an expert in-house team led by Jodie Atkin and 
mentored by A/prof. Jason Frank (toronto, canada).

FedeRAL tRAInIng cOmmIttee

ian incoll, together with the Federal training 
committee, has also continued to oversee the 
upgrading and ongoing activity of the current training 
program. specific attention has been paid to ensure 
that the process follows a clear and transparent path, 
which has been reflected by a significant drop in 
the number of applications for reconsideration on 
procedural grounds.

A major step forward has been to operationalise the 
RAcs/AoA agreement with the training arm officially 
being represented at the Board of surgical Education 
and training by AoA, rather than a committee of RAcs. 
this has required division of the previous Board of 
orthopaedics into an Australian and a new Zealand 
arm. close corporation continues between the two 
training bodies to ensure consistency for the sake of 
examinations.

ReSeARch FOundAtIOn

this year, the challenge for the AoA Research 
Foundation’s new chair, Minoo patel (victoria), has 
been to develop a strategy to increase the corpus of 

pREsiDEnt & cH A iR  oF BoA RD oF D iREc to Rs –  peteR chOOng 

placing excellence at the heart of our culture.

president Report

“A MAJoR tHRust oF tHis 
yEAR’s Activity HAs BEEn 
to incREAsE EnGAGEMEnt 
WitH iMpoRtAnt 
stAKEHolDER GRoups.” 



5

the foundation. With changes in engagement between 
industry and AoA in recent years, there has been a 
steady decline in support of the research fund. the 
AoA Research Foundation, AoA’s cEo, and i have 
reopened dialogue with industry to look at appropriate 
ways for this corpus to be refuelled. the outcome of 
these discussions has been promising with further 
discussions with interested parties planned.

StRAtegIc ReSeARch SteeRIng cOmmIttee

the strategic Research steering committee (consisting 
of ian Harris, Richard Desteiger, Michael scheutz, John 
owen and i – supported by Adrian cosenza and Kathy 
Hill) has convened on three separate occasions to 
discuss and delineate the aspirations arising from the 
national strategic Research consensus Forum held in 
november 2013. 

the thrust of the committee’s efforts was how to 
build bridges between researchers, be they basic 
scientists or clinical scientists, to satisfy one of the 
key objectives of the AoA which is to promote and 
support research. the group embraced the concept 
of national Academic orthopaedic Departments 
(noADs) that could act as lighthouses to link research 
projects and researchers across the nation. the group 
also studied ways of enhancing the research capacity 
of orthopaedic surgeons as well as building research 
capabilities beginning at the registrar level by specific 
funding schemes and mentorship programs. 

engAgement

A major thrust of this year’s activity has been to 
increase engagement with important stakeholder 
groups. this has been done in a variety of ways 
including better communication with members, 
participation in broader musculoskeletal initiatives, 
more frequent and focused interactions with 
government and regulatory bodies, and earlier and 
more proactive engagement with consumer groups. 

Members: it is pleasing to report a continuation of 
the positive responses to feedback surveys put to the 
members through the year. 

Government: through Kathy Hill, Advocacy and 
Governance Manager, AoA has kept a very high profile 
with health and regulatory bureaucrats in canberra. 

consumer Advocacy Groups: AoA has also formed 
important strategic alliances with consumer groups 
such as Arthritis Australia and Arthritis victoria in 
promoting better models of care for osteoarthritis, 
rheumatoid arthritis and osteoporosis.

Australian Rheumatology society: AoA has supported 
and is committed to national osteoarthritis and 
national Musculoskeletal clinical trials summits 
headed by the Australian Rheumatological society. 

international consensus Meeting on prosthetic Joint 
infections: Earlier this year, i had the privilege of 
representing AoA as one of the 400 delegates and 57 
national societies who participated in the international 
consensus Meeting on prosthetic infections held in 
philadelphia. this important year-long activity has 
culminated in the production of global consensus 
statements regarding the appropriate management  
of prosthetic joint infections. these have been 
published in JBJs and Journal of Arthroplasty as  
well as in book form.

Asia pacific Region: AoA continues to promote a 
closer tie between Australia and its Asian neighbours 
through the activities of orthopaedic outreach 
and the Asia pacific orthopaedic Association 
(ApoA). tangible examples of this include teaching 
and examination workshops with the indonesian 
orthopaedic Association at the recent combined ioA/
AoA coE in Bali. Daryl teague and John owen have 
been spearheading this effort and there are greater 
plans afoot to engage the Asian neighbours through 
travelling fellowships and scholarships.

carousel Group: interactions with the carousel group 
of presidents has allowed a greater understanding 
of orthopaedic practice and politics on the global 
stage. this is a tremendous resource and is an ideal 
forum for uniting efforts to motivate change at the 
international level. 

“A siGn oF tHE vitAlity 
oF Any AssociAtion is its 
pREpAREDnEss to MEEt tHE 
cHAllEnGEs oF tHE FutuRE.“
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gROup OF pASt pReSIdentS

the experience and wisdom of our past presidents will 
be harnessed through the creation of a group known as 
the Group of past presidents. this invaluable resource 
will be utilised by the Board and Executive to inform 
its discussions and debates when considering issues of 
strategic importance. 

John owen has accepted the role of inaugural chair of 
this important and august group.

nAtIOnAL JOInt RepLAcement RegIStRY 
(AOAnJRR)

the AoAnJRR continues to lead in this high impact 
area. under the directorship of stephen Graves this 
facet of AoA has gone from strength to strength as it 
drives the development of important regulatory checks 
and balances required to ensure that joint replacement 
surgery remains a safe and effective option for patients 
with end-stage arthritis. An example of this is where 
the AoAnJRR has used its interactions with the 
therapeutic Goods Administration to highlight the 
need for greater clarity in the process of classifying 
new prostheses prior to being introduced into the 
Australian market. 

cOnStItutIOnAL chAnge

A sign of the vitality of any association is its 
preparedness to meet the challenges of the future. 
Ensuring that the constitution keeps up with the times 
is critical for allowing our association to pursue its 
vision and strategies effectively. over the last three 
years, the constitution has been reviewed and changes 
raised and discussed at the member, state, and AoA 
Board levels. last year, a preliminary framework was 
presented for discussion at the AoA Members’ Forum, 
which signalled the Board’s desire to restructure 
its size, composition and activities, and association 
membership structure. the extensive disbursement 
of information and recording of wide feedback has 
allowed the Board to craft a formal proposal which 
members will receive prior to the Annual scientific 
Meeting for discussion and voting at the Annual 
General Meeting in october 2014. 

pROFeSSIOnAL deveLOpment And StAndARdS

Michael Johnson (victoria), the new chair of the 
professional Development and standards committee, 
has been working closely with Andreas loefler to 
address the rising numbers of complaints between 
and of members. issues related to advertising, fees 
and professional conduct have been central to their 
deliberations. Moves have been made at RAcs level 
as well as with the Australian Health practitioner 
Regulation Agency (AHpRA) to explore ways where 
AoA may assist in the process of counselling, 
conciliation or investigation of complaints. AoA is also 
looking at ways to mitigate the rise of professional 
misconduct issues by developing education and 
training modules that target younger colleagues as 
they go through the training program.

RAcS ReLAtIOnShIp

the relationship between AoA and RAcs continues 
to develop. As important stakeholders in Australian 
surgery, it is incumbent on both bodies to seek paths 
that lead to mutual prosperity in their respective 
endeavours. communication is at the core of this and 
several fora have been developed to assist this. these 
include a meeting of the respective executives of AoA 
and RAcs on a regular basis as well as the presidents’ 
Forum, which sees the meeting of all the presidents 
of the specialty societies, including RAcs, to discuss 
issues of mutual relevance. AoA is committed to 
keeping the lines of communication open.

pROFeSSIOnAL StAFF

under the leadership of cEo, Adrian cosenza, AoA 
head office has developed into a hive of activity where 
the feeling of collaboration is palpable. A lot of thought 
has gone into aligning recruitment and deployment 
with the strategic needs and portfolios of AoA. this 
has allowed the many committees of AoA to perform 
effectively and efficiently and to contribute to the 
advance of AoA strategies. Adrian and his team are 
to be congratulated for the exceptional jobs they 
have done in supporting and driving the efforts of our 
association. 
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the AoA journey over the past four years has been 
remarkable. 

AoA has experienced healthy growth in members from 
1362 (2011) to over 1550 (2014), trainees and hospital 
posts from 215 (2011) to 224 (2014) and accredited 
fellowships from over 60 (2011) to 107 (2014). 

AoA’s voice is being increasingly heard both internally 
and externally through increased advocacy, growing 
from five submissions in 2011 to 17 submissions in 2014. 
communication activities have proven popular with 
open rates of the enewsletter increasing from 47% 
(2011) to 69% (2014). 

the Board has invested prudently in building AoA 
capabilities, including in the areas of director 
education, technology and our people. A disciplined 
investment in key strategic initiatives has been 
pursued including the AoAnJRR strategic Review, 
AoA 21, research, fellowships and the contemporary 
constitution proposals. AoA has honed its execution 
abilities through the professional adoption of 
strategic, risk, technology, public relations and project 
management planning capabilities. 

the results speak for themselves – member 
satisfaction has increased from 85% in 2012 to 90% 
in 2014. the areas rated by members at 90% plus 
have increased from one in 2012 to five in 2014 and 
the rating range for all areas has increased from 
80–89% satisfaction in 2012 to 87–93% in 2014. 
staff engagement is at an all-time high. industry 
partnership has strengthened in sponsorship  
meeting attendances and meeting support. 

StRAtegY

the Board’s strategic agenda is visionary and 
ambitious. it encompasses education and training 
through AoA 21 and the AoA national Joint 
Replacement Registry (AoAnJRR) with both 
acknowledged in global orthopaedics as at or 
aspiring to world recognised status. 

the Board has also initiated a major strategic review 
of AoA’s role in research to determine the pathway 
for AoA to position itself as more relevant in the 
musculoskeletal research ecosystem, as well as 
commissioning a long overdue strategic review of 
fellowships. Discussions have also commenced in 
preparation for the next strategic plan 2016–2018  
with ethics and professionalism emerging as likely  
key areas of focus.

the comprehensive strategic education and training 
review initiated late in 2011 has transformed into a 
contemporary flagship strategic initiative in AoA’s core 
business – AoA 21 ‘Excellence in orthopaedic surgical 
Education and training’. the aspiration is to pursue 
improved quality and patient care through the delivery 
of a world-recognised orthopaedic surgical education 
and training program. 

A contemporary and pragmatic implementation 
plan over an eight-year period has been approved. A 
four year plus four year approach has been adopted 
covering five key areas of focus in the first four years 
and the remaining four in the second phase. 

cHiEF  E x Ecu ti v E  oFFicER –  AdRIAn cOSenz A

Four years in the making: a renewed, refreshed and globally 
relevant leader in orthopaedics.

cEo Report
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Members have enthusiastically embraced AoA 21 and 
it is most pleasing to note that external experts regard 
implementation so far as being ahead of other similar 
style transformation initiatives globally. the design 
and methodology in developing AoA 21 is regarded 
as contemporary and world best practice in strategy 
development. 

progress on each of the 30 recommendations from the 
2012 Bosch strategic review report on the AoAnJRR 
has been reported to each Board meeting over the 
past year. All of the recommendations have been 
completed and/or substantially progressed. 

the new service agreement with the Royal Australasian 
college of surgeons (RAcs) for training came into 
effect from 1 January 2014. the Australian Medical 
council (AMc) identified the service activity matrix in 
the service agreement pioneered by AoA as a major 
innovation compared to many agreements reviewed 
by AMc. 

in conjunction with two other specialties, AoA 
commissioned an independent expert to undertake 
a detailed and ‘forensic’ activity-based costing 
review of the training activities supported by AoA for 
orthopaedic trainees. to validate the AoA training 
fee, AoA provided full transparency on the costing 
methodology to RAcs and to the Executive of the 
Australian orthopaedic Registrars’ Association (AoRA). 

implementation of all of the key deliverables identified 
in the 2013–2015 strategic implementation has been 
completed and/or substantially progressed. the 
Board has assessed implementation and execution of 
the strategic plan as well ahead of expectations and 
most pleasing.  

gOveRnAnce

Members have continued an active and close 
engagement over the past two years in contributing to 
the proposals for changes to the constitution. 

consultation has been measured, extensive, prudent 
and considered. it has included two member surveys, 
discussions at state executive level, debates within the 
constitution and Regulation committee, discussions at 
the president and state chair Meetings as well as many 
Board discussions. 

the proposals to be tabled at the Annual General 
Meeting on 15 october 2014 in Melbourne reflect the 
combined feedback of members. the proposals are 
visionary, contemporary and forward thinking in that 
members are considering the shape of the Board and 
governance practices to best prepare AoA to address 
the challenges of the future. 

the Board completed its first ever Board effectiveness 
review in 2014, which was conducted by the esteemed 
governance statesman Henry Bosch Ao. Bosch 
concluded that the AoA Board and AoA management 
team worked effectively and our AoA Board 
effectiveness is regarded as top performing when 
compared with similar not-for-profit board effectiveness 
reviews he has completed. 

OpeRAtIOnS

AoA’s financial position remains solid and strong. the 
Audit and Risk committee is functioning effectively. 

the AoA risk register and the AoAnJRR risk register 
have been reviewed and refined to improve AoA’s risk 
profile. AoA risk management continues to solidify 
the important role it plays in the ever changing health 
sector. All of AoA insurance arrangements have been 
refreshed and reviewed over the past year to continue 
to best protect AoA’s assets and people. the Audit 
and Risk committee reviewed AoA’s legal contract 
register during the year noting over 250 agreements, 
with over 70 current at any one time. 

Members continue to benefit from ongoing investment 
in AoA technology. initiatives progressed during 
the year include enhancements to cpD online, 
improvements to the selection process for the 
2015 trainee intake, back-end enhancements to the 
AoA website, the launch of a newly enhanced AoA 

“tHE BoARD HAs invEstED 
pRuDEntly in BuilDinG AoA 
cApABilitiEs, incluDinG 
in tHE AREAs oF DiREctoR 
EDucAtion, tEcHnoloGy 
AnD ouR pEoplE.”
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eproceedings library and online consent process, 
further improvements in the elc (Education learning 
centre) including the successful development of the 
mandatory assessment suite for AoA 21, and the very 
first use of an online voting system for the 2014 Western 
Australian Executive elections.

Advocacy activities continue to ensure that AoA’s voice 
is heard in government and the relevant areas of the 
heath sector. the integration of policy development, 
advocacy and media has enabled a more responsive 
and professional positioning for AoA in the sector. 

this has resulted in positive public relations profile and 
branding, with the value of media coverage over the 
past 12 months assessed by AoA media advisors at 
around $4.9m ($1.2m last year). 

AoA conference and event management activities 
continue to flourish and grow. From a standing start 
in 2011 AoA conference and event management 
is currently managing 24 meetings in its growing 
portfolio. 

the ‘one orthopaedic community’ theme is best 
reflected in this portfolio with AoA overseeing 
meetings for most state AsMs, a number of 
subspecialty societies, the Asia pacific orthopaedic 
Association (ApoA) global congress as well as federal 
AsM and coE meetings. 

industry sponsorship and registration attendances 
continue to grow with all meetings setting record 
attendances and industry support for similar 
corresponding meetings previously held.

AoA communication activities have grown and 
resulted in increased member engagement. the 
AoA enewsletter continues to perform above 
industry averages with open rates and click through 
rates increasing year on year. the Bulletin continues 
to play an important role in connecting the AoA 
community. the 2014 member survey reported that 
99% of members regularly read the Bulletin with 83% 
reading every issue. contributions from members, 
state chairs and subspecialty presidents are also on the 
rise – recording the highest level of engagement and 
submissions over the past 12 months.

InteRnAtIOnAL

AoA’s global profile in orthopaedics is becoming 
increasingly relevant and sought. AoA continues 
to play a leadership role in arthroplasty registries 
through professor stephen Graves as chair of the 
international consortium of Registries (icoR) and 
professor Richard de steiger as president Elect of the 
international society of Arthroplasty Registries (isAR). 
the Asia pacific Economic cooperation (ApEc) Forum, 
comprising 21 countries in the region including the 
united states, invited AoA (as one of two Australian 
representatives) to participate in the business ethics 
forum in 2013 (indonesia) and 2014 (china). AoA, 
through its pioneering work in education and training 
and AoA 21, has also participated in the international 
Medical Education leaders’ Forum (canada) in 2012 
and 2014. 

AOA teAm

it is indeed a privilege to work with such highly 
engaged, caring, professional and dedicated staff. the 
efforts in positioning AoA as a global leader over the 
past four years are thanks to their continued dedication 
and support for the members and the many AoA 
committees which are supported by the staff. i am most 
grateful for the incredible camaraderie demonstrated 
by the Executive and Board. the relentless focus on 
actions and initiatives that are in the best interest of 
AoA through teamwork and united cohesion is indeed 
a pleasure to witness. i would like to express my 
humble thanks to all AoA staff and in particular to the 
presidential line, Executive and Board for their wise 
counsel, guidance and support over the past year and 
indeed the past four years. 

the new eRA 

AoA is entering a new era and is at a defining point 
of change as it charts its future pathway over the 
next decade. Members’ ambitions, reflected through 
the Board’s stewardship, are to position AoA as the 
‘best of the best’ in all matters defining the role of 
a successful and globally relevant peak professional 
body in orthopaedics. the challenge is stimulating, 
invigorating and reflects Australian orthopaedics’ well-
known characteristics as bold, decisive and pioneering. 
it continues to be an honour to work for the profession. 
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•	 to continue to provide world-
class orthopaedic surgeons.

•	 to design, organise and 
facilitate high quality 
selection, training and 
assessment

•	 to establish a fully functional 
faculty of orthopaedic surgery 
by June 2015

•	

•	 completed 4 phases of strategic education review and 
recommendations approved at october 2013 Board meeting

•	 implementation plan over 8 years comprising a 2 phase – 4 years 
plus 4 years approach approved at February 2014 Board meeting

•	 implementation is ahead of plan as at July 2014 Board and regarded 
as operating at best practice for major change initiatives 

•	 An independent expert completed activity-based costing review of 
the AoA training activities

•	 the Australian Medical council (AMc) identified the service activity 
matrix for training (pioneered by AoA) in the service agreements 
with RAcs as a major innovation

•	 to improve member 
satisfaction levels

•	 to deliver relevant member 
support and services

•	 to successfully advocate 
prioritised key policy matters 
at a state and federal level

•	 to achieve greater than 95% 
AoA membership by 2015

•	

•	 overall member satisfaction levels increased from 85% in 2012 to 
90% in 2014

•	 All AoA functions rated satisfactory or better by 87–94% of 
respondents (80–89% in 2012)

•	 conference and Event management portfolio increased from 0 in 
2011 to 24 in 2014

•	 Advocacy issues handled increased from 4 in 2011 to 31 in 2014

•	 AoA membership increased from 94% in 2012 to 98% in 2014

•	 to be regarded as a leader 
in setting and achieving high 
standards of patient care

•	 to support all practicing AoA 
members in reaching cpD 
compliance

•	 to maintain and improve global 
leadership of the AoAnJRR

•	

•	 cpD online rated satisfactory or better by 93% (96% in 2013) of 
respondents 

•	 53% of respondents rate professional standards/AoAnJRR as an 
area of most interest

•	 AoAnJRR strategic review recommendations completed and or 
substantially advanced

•	 Global leadership maintained through AoA chair of international 
consortium of Registries (icoR) and AoA chair designate of 
international society of Arthroplasty Registries

•	 positive global profile of AoAnJRR in influential academy health review

•	 to enhance AoA’s profile as 
the only relevant authority 
for patient education for all 
matters orthopaedic

•	

•	 subspecialty societies continuing to contribute to online content 
development

•	 technology architecture of new patient/community web portal agreed 

EDucAtion AnD tRAininG

MEMBER REpREsEntAtion AnD ADvocAcy

pRoFEssionAl stAnDARDs

pAtiEnt EDucAtion

pRoGREsscoRE stRAtEGiEs

10
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this time last year i wrote of the commencement of 
an internal and external review of our education and 
training program. 

in less than 12 months extraordinary progress has been 
achieved with our AoA 21 project, thanks to the vision, 
involvement and generosity of so many.

the goal of AoA 21 is the pursuit of improved quality and 
patient care through the delivery of a world-recognised 
orthopaedic surgical education and training program. 

At the october 2013 Annual scientific Meeting (AsM) 
in Darwin, the AoA Board considered and endorsed 
Associate professor Jason Frank’s recommendations 
regarding the way forward in enhancing AoA’s 
postgraduate surgical education and training program. 

His 16 recommendations were the culmination of a two-
year process of review which:

•	 Described the current scope and perceptions of 
educational activities under the auspices of AoA 

•	 Administered and analysed a comprehensive 
survey of AoA stakeholders’ opinions of the 
effectiveness of AoA training 

•	 conducted an environmental scan of leading 
practices in surgical education worldwide 

•	 identified gaps between current activities and 
leading practices.

A RevISed cuRRIcuLum tO deveLOp  
gRAduAte expeRtISe

At the heart of the revised training program and 
curriculum development is consideration of the 

essential abilities of an AoA graduate on their first day 
of independent practice. 

the curriculum will be competency based, with an 
emphasis on ‘foundation competencies’, such as 
professionalism, communication and teamwork. 
these will be explicitly taught and embedded in the 
accompanying assessment strategies of the program, 
alongside the trainees’ acquisition of medical and 
technical expertise. 

two AoA 21 working groups have been progressing 
the development of the revised curriculum and 
assessment strategies. 

the curriculum Review committee, led by Michael 
Falkenberg, has created a revised draft of the 
curriculum. this has been reviewed, and will be ready 
for distribution and comment after the AsM in october 
2014. An assessment working party has been convened 
and preliminary workshops have already been held to 
consider possible assessment methods to target each 
section of the curriculum. 

the development of an improved assessment strategy, 
which will be aligned to the revised curriculum, is the goal.

cOmmunIcAtIOn And engAgement wIth 
memBeRS

A dedicated AoA 21 section of the AoA website has 
been created to ensure that resources and the latest 
progress updates are available to all. 

As the momentum for the project has built, 
opportunities for engagement with trainees and 
members have been sought. to this point, these 
have included presentations at the victorian, south 

cH A iR  oF EDu c Ation & t R A ininG –  IAn IncOLL

Extraordinary progress for AoA 21 thanks to the vision, 
inspiration, generous involvement and leadership of the  
AoA community.

Education & training Report
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Australian, Queensland, new south Wales and 
Western Australia AsMs as well as to the RAcs AsM in 
singapore. Briefings about AoA 21 have also occurred 
with bodies such as the Australian Medical council.

BuILdIng cApABILItY

Alongside the development of the curriculum has been 
a focus on enhancement of supervisor capabilities. 
the webinar series entitled, ‘Helping underperforming 
trainees’ has been trialled and offered to AoA 
directors of training and training supervisors. 

the webinar provides tools to identify trainees that 
require extra help early in their training; it outlines steps 
in addressing underperformance and provides the 
opportunity to discuss experiences and ways in which 
management could be improved. the webinar facility 
enables polling, group discussion, and automated 
evaluation. it is envisaged that this technology will help 
AoA reach more members involved in training roles, in 
a time efficient manner.

InteRnAtIOnAL cOLLABORAtIOn

Discussions with colleagues at the American Academy 
of orthopaedic surgery (AAos) and the American 
orthopaedic Association have occurred to share 
experiences and identify relevant strategies that might 
assist in the implementation of AoA 21. learning from 
others’ developments of learning modules, research and 
methods of educational delivery have been identified as 
future areas for conversations and exchanges.

eLeARnIng

A four-year elearning Development plan is in place 
to support the delivery of the AoA 21 curriculum and 
assessment objectives. to this end, capacity is being 
developed on the AoA website for the learn@aoa 
portal which will be the home for all the resources and 
assessments of the sEt program. 

the trainee information Management system (tiMs) is 
currently being developed. At the commencement of 
2015 all trainees in sEt 1–5 will use the three mandatory 
assessment tools (QARs, Dops and elogs) via tiMs. As 
AoA 21 identifies additional and new assessment tools 
these will be incorporated into the elearning platform.

the fact that so much has been achieved to this stage 
of AoA 21 is a testament to the many AoA members 

engaged and contributing to this project. My sincere 
thanks goes to each person who has offered support 
or suggestions and, in particular, to those who are 
contributing as members of the Federal training 
committee, curriculum Review committee and 
Assessment Working party and Review team. 

i would particularly like to thank Jodie Atkin for her 
expertise, drive, commitment and sheer hard work in 
steering the project, and Michael Falkenberg and John 
owen for their leadership and vision. thanks also go to 
the AoA Board and to Adrian cosenza for their untiring 
support and initiative in the pursuit of excellence, and to 
the AoA staff who underpin all this activity.

BehInd the SceneS OF e&t – SOme StAtIStIcS 
And mAnY cOmmItted peOpLe

Applications for selection to the orthopaedic sEt 
program for 2015 were received from 219 doctors with 
100 applicants being interviewed, as follows: 

nSw/Act – 38  QLd – 19   SA – 8 
vIc/tAS – 25  wA – 10 

the interviews were conducted on saturday 14 June 
2014, thanks to the generosity of 109 AoA members. 

the offers of places were determined based on the 
rankings of combined cv/application documents, 
in-depth referee reports and interview scores derived 
from six interview stations. Fifty-three offers to 
commence sEt in 2015 have been made and accepted.

this year, we have 224 trainees enrolled in the 
orthopaedic sEt program. thirty-six trainees have 
passed their orthopaedic fellowship examination 
and await successful completion of their final term 
assessments before being admitted to orthopaedic 
and AoA fellowship. throughout the year we have had 
11 trainees undergo varying forms of remediation to 
support them in achieving the competencies of the 
training program. 

the 2014 hospital accreditation inspections were 
held across two weeks from 17–28 March 2014. thirty-
seven AoA inspectors across Australia attended the 
27 hospital inspections. sixteen of the inspections 
were held as quinquennial inspections within the 
state of Queensland, with two mini-inspections, 
four additional post inspections and six initial post 
applications held nationally.
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on behalf of RAcs, Dr Don pitchford (chair of 
orthopaedic services) and i have participated in the 
assessment of international medical graduates (iMG) 
seeking to practice in Australia in the discipline of 
orthopaedic surgery. there are currently 23 iMGs under 
oversight/assessment. 

While all of the developments for AoA 21 represent 
an exciting future for AoA, on a daily basis our current 
trainees are being mentored, taught and assessed to the 
highest standards and with huge commitment by our 
members. these members give of their time as Dots, 
trainee supervisors, examiners, accreditation inspectors, 
selection interviewers and course convenors. 

to all who have given their time so generously in 
support of the daily activities of the training program, i 
extend my sincerest gratitude. 

i would like to especially acknowledge the members of 
the Federal training committee (Ftc), in particular our 
Regional training committee chairs: Drs omar Korshid 
(WA), Russell Bourne (QlD), Geoff Rosenberg (nsW/
Act), Graeme Brown (vic/tAs) and Ben Beamond 
(sA/nt) without whose dedication the education and 
training activities of the AoA would not be possible, as 
well as the nsW Regional Board of studies chairs Drs 
Minas petrelis, Richard Boyle and tim o’carrigan. 

thanks also go to the staff of the education and training 
team and the regional executive officers for their 
support and management of the training program.

the AoRA Executive committee has this year focused on creating a strong voice of representation for our members as 
they progress through the orthopaedic surgical Education & training (sEt) program, and building a strong future for 
our profession through the development of camaraderie and collegiality.

our committee has sought to introduce new initiatives to AoA and to bring some of the questions that are 
circulating amongst members to those who can answer them, such as attendance requirements at Bone school, 
AAos oitE, and trainee research requirements. We have also had input into the fellowships review, particularly 
concerning the impact of these on training experiences, and discussions regarding the training fee.

AORA Annual meeting 

We have great hopes that the new format for AoRA’s 2014 Annual Meeting in Melbourne will be a huge success. it is 
very important for the trainee community to have a robust annual meeting with good attendance and representation 
from every state. this year includes a new instructional course lecture (icl) series. over the three-day program, 
eminent Australian surgeons will each chair a short lecture series focusing on eight subspecialty areas.

One AOA community 

in order to provide an opportunity for our state trainee representatives to discuss issues that are important locally 
and nationally, we requested support for the holding of a bi-annual face-to-face meeting. the first meeting took 
place in the AoA Boardroom on 19 July 2014. our inaugural meeting provided an excellent opportunity for the 
AoRA Executive to meet with AoA’s cEo Adrian cosenza and to hear more about AoA 21 and discuss training 
issues with ian incoll, AoA chair of Education & training. 

We all found the meeting a very positive way to enhance communication between trainees and the Ftc, AoA Board 
and AoA staff. At the meeting we decided that each individual member of our committee would take on some extra 
responsibility with the aim of achieving more as a group and better serving both the AoRA constituency and AoA. 

Ao R A pR E s i D En t –  ALe x AndeR n IchOLL S

AORA: Building a strong Future for our profession
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AnnuAL ScIentIFIc meetIng (ASm), 
meLBOuRne, 12–16 OctOBeR 2014

the meeting theme: ‘Advances in the 21st century, 
What is the Evidence?’ underlines how vital scientific 
endeavour is to optimise patient care. the president’s 
guest speaker professor stefan lohmander, a renowned 
academic orthopaedic surgeon, will set the scene for 
the meeting in the opening ceremony. 

We are honoured to also have nobel laureate professor 
peter Doherty present. the meeting theme will further 
be developed in a plenary session, which will include 
RAcs guest speaker and registry expert professor Göran 
Garellick, practising clinicians, and perspectives from 
a politician and hospital administrator whose policies 
impact on what we can do.

the meeting has been strongly supported by the 
membership with a record number of scientific 
abstracts submitted. subspecialty societies have 
been most enthusiastic in assisting with program 
development, inviting guest speakers, and presenting 
educational lectures.

All carousel presidents have been invited to speak 
at this AsM. in addition, an international presidents’ 
Forum will be held and will include presidents from 
the Asia pacific associations. AoA members can learn 
about the state of orthopaedics in neighbouring 
nations, what their challenges are, what collaborations 
are available in outreach, education and training, and 
academic interchange.

the Melbourne AsM will feature a strong social 
component. tony Dunin and his local organising 
committee have reintroduced sports on the sunday 
afternoon, and organised some highly anticipated 
evening functions. the positive feedback from the 2013 
Darwin AsM has indicated AoA members value the 
informality and opportunity for relaxed networking with 
their colleagues.

InduStRY

industry continues to increase its support and 
sponsorship for the AsM. the diamond sponsor will 
present an industry masterclass within the scientific 
program. the gold sponsors will present an iMc 
in concurrent breakfast sessions. the iMc content 
continues to be reviewed by the scientific committee, 
and complements the scientific program by being 
an in-depth presentation of a new technique or 
technology by local or international experts.

sciEntiF ic  sEcRE tA Ry  –  ALL An wAng 

scientific evidence is the basis for optimal patient care and 
advancement of orthopaedic surgery as a specialty.

scientific secretary Report

onE DiAMonD sponsoR 
AnD six GolD sponsoRs 
HiGHliGHt tHE succEss 
AnD incREAsinG suppoRt 
By inDustRy FoR tHE AsM.
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cOe 

the coE program continues with the successful format 
of two meetings a year, covering all the subspecialties 
over the four-year cycle. Andrew oppy has succeeded 
Richard Williams as coE chair. the May 2015 Meeting 
‘Hip and Knee Arthroplasty’ will be held in sydney.

AORA

the AoRA Annual Meeting continues to be held in 
the weekend preceding the AsM. under the capable 
leadership of AoRA president Alex nicholls, the AoRA 
Annual Meeting will take on a slightly different format, 
including more educational talks. 

the scientific secretary has reviewed all scientific 
abstracts submitted for this meeting. Fewer abstracts 
have been received compared to previous years, but 
the quality of scientific work is much higher. this year 
all 20 submitted abstracts have been accepted. it is 
hoped that registrar attendance at the AoRA meeting 
will improve, and that many registrars will stay on to 
attend the AsM.

BRISBAne ASm 2015

Early planning is on the way. the theme is ‘training 
tomorrow’s orthopaedic surgeons today’. professor 
Andy carr has accepted the invitation as president’s 
guest speaker.

AcknOwLedgement

i wish to thank Alison Fallon and other members of 
AoA office for their assistance this past year.
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the position of chair of professional Development 
and standards is one that is both on the Board and 
Executive committee of AoA. 

Embedded within the position are a number of roles. 
these roles include the investigation and resolution 
of complaints through mediation, if possible, and the 
evolution of a continuing professional Development 
(cpD) program that is clinically relevant, consistent 
with the expectation of the public and regulators and 
as easy as possible for members to comply with. this 
is increasingly important, as this year Australian Health 
practitioner Regulation Agency (AHpRA) will begin an 
auditing process, which will be independent of cpD 
providers.

in an attempt to change the emphasis of cpD from 
just complying with a set of requirements to one that 
focuses on real professional improvement AoA is 
considering increasing the importance of mentoring 
and practice review and audit with colleagues.

cOntInuIng pROFeSSIOnAL deveLOpment

cpd program

in early 2014, AoA launched some enhancements to 
cpD online to assist members in reaching compliance. 
these new features have been outlined in the ‘updated 
features for cpD online’ section on the main summary 
page on cpD online 2013 onwards. 

Members can now upload and store their verification 
documents to their cpD online portfolio and points 
and a certificate will now be automatically allocated to 

a member’s portfolio if they attend any AoA meeting 
or event.  

the following graph represents the number of 
members who have completed all sections of cpD for 
the 2010–2012 triennium. it shows that the completion 
rates exceeded the strategic objectives of 85% annual 
completion by the end of the 2010–2012 triennium.

cpd AudIt And veRIFIcAtIOn

in 2013, AoA requested verification (for two sections) 
from 5% of its members for 2012. of the 60 members 
who were randomly selected for audit, 53 members 
(51 AoA program and 2 RAcs program) provided 
verification of their cpD activity. this represents a rate 
of 88% compliance with the audit process.

cHAiR oF pRoFEssionAl DEvElopMEnt & stAnDARDs – mIchAeL A JOhnSOn 

AoA continues to invest in establishing a clinically relevant 
and compliance-friendly cpD program.

professional Development  
& standards Report
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cOmpLIAnce RAteS
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AoA has recently concluded the 2013 random audit 
of 5% of members for verification of cpD activity. the 
enhancements to the cpD program allow members to 
upload verification at the time of entering data. As a 
result, the audit was less labour intensive for both the 
audited members and staff. A report of the outcome 
of this audit will be available in the next AoA Annual 
Report.

AHpRA has now commenced audits of medical 
practitioner cpD compliance. non-compliance in 
cpD may affect the member’s employment as well 
as medical registration. it is also a breach of the AoA 
code of conduct.

pROFeSSIOnAL StAndARdS

During the year we have dealt with a small number of 
complaints primarily about advertising and practice 
promotion. these complaints have almost universally 
arisen from other orthopaedic surgeons. they appear 
to range from more aggressive albeit acceptable 
advertising, to advertising which appears clearly in 
opposition to the AHpRA advertising guidelines. All 
of these matters have been dealt with within AoA’s 
dispute resolution processes – either federally or at the 
local branch level.

Members are reminded that internet and social media 
sites are regulated in the same way as print media and 
that members are responsible not only for the content, 
patient privacy issues and other related issues of their 
own website but also for the websites to which they 
choose to link their site.

AoA realises that the code of conduct has not kept 
pace with change, particularly in the area of the internet 
and social media, so a revision of the code is currently 
underway. AoA, of course, is limited in the disciplinary 
options and is very dependent on members’ goodwill 
and self-reflection. Members wishing to advertise are 
strongly advised to view the AHpRA website.

AcknOwLedgementS

Finally i would like to thank all the AoA staff, particularly 
Megan cetinic and Kathy Hill, who do the vast majority 
of work in professional development and standards.

AoA active members 1008

Members participating in AoA cpD program 631

Members participating in RAcs cpD program 278

Members not participating in a cpD program 99

total members audited 60

Audited members participating in AoA cpD program 55

Audited members participating in RAcs cpD program 2

Audited members that did not respond to audit request 2

Audited members that correctly verified their cpD activity in the AoA program 51

Audit members excused from the audit 1

MAJoR FinDinGs FoR 2012 RAnDoM AuDit nuMBER
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orthopaedic training and supervision – both at 
registrar level and at international medical graduate 
(iMG) level – are being further refined as we develop 
the AoA 21 curriculum into the future.

the momentum of AoA 21 has started to make  
some impact as the curriculum is being refined and  
this has taken some focus away from industrial and 
staffing issues.

Area of need requests appear to have noticeably 
reduced – both from rural health services and iMG 
candidates being interviewed. this has not slowed 
down the ongoing applications for assessment 
by RAcs of prospective iMGs wishing to practice 
orthopaedic surgery in Australia.

AoA accredited fellowships have become a 
contributing source of candidates wishing to remain 
living and practising orthopaedic surgery in Australia.

there are currently 23 iMG candidates across Australia 
undergoing supervision or oversight. While these 
candidates are being assessed, they are technically not 
being trained, as this has not been the role of the iMG 
process. However, in reality, this spread out group of 
candidates constitutes another source of orthopaedic 
surgeons exiting with a FRAcs qualification – whether 
it be by oversight or by examination.

Img tRAInIng & ASSeSSment 

the pass rate of iMG candidates has remained lower 
than that of the final year orthopaedic registrars and 
this has led to the recognition that indeed some 

training is necessary in order to adequately prepare an 
iMG candidate for the final examination.

As part of this process, iMG candidates have been 
included in state training at Bone school level and have 
been included in trial examinations – subject to them 
paying the designated registrar fee covering Bone 
school participation.

the Federal training committee (Ftc) has therefore, 
out of necessity, become involved in supervising iMG 
candidates at a training level. 

the March 2014 examination was held both in Brisbane 
and in Auckland due to a large number of Australian 
trained and iMGs sitting the examination.

As part of the growth in iMG assessments and 
adequate service provision, it has been decided to 
split the duties previously held by the orthopaedic 
services committee. iMG assessments and supervision 
are to be taken over by the Ftc and service provision 
will be overseen by the state orthopaedic services 
committees. the Federal orthopaedic services chair 
position will therefore no longer exist. 

AcknOwLedgement

i wish to thank AoA for the privilege of serving in this 
capacity for the past three years and anticipate further 
fine tuning of an already robust and well functioning 
process of both the provision of services in rural and 
metropolitan centres and the monitoring of iMGs until 
they attain Australian orthopaedic surgeon status. 

cH A iR  oF oR t HopA EDic sER v icE s  –  dOnALd pItchFORd 

AoA further bolsters the provision of services in rural and 
metropolitan centres and monitoring of iMGs.

orthopaedic services Report
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2014 ROund OF ReSeARch gRAntS

the AoA Research Foundation (AoA RF) received a 
record number of applications for a second year in a 
row in 2014, with 36 applications received. the top ten 
grants have been shortlisted for the Board’s review. 
Five grants totaling $125,000 will be awarded. the 
successful grants will be formally announced at the 
Melbourne Annual scientific Meeting.

gRAnt AppLIcAtIOnS gO eLectROnIc

the AoA RF grant applications were this year 
submitted online using DropBox. the system was 
efficient and worked well. our team of Jeff clark, Adam 
levy and Kirsty Hogarth worked tirelessly to achieve 
this. this is only the first step in an ambitious 18-month 
plan to convert the entire process of grant applications 
and assessments online for greater efficiency. the AoA 
RF has signed contracts with AoA technology supplier 
Avion software who hope to deliver the electronic 
platform in time for the Early Researcher Grants, due to 
open in late 2014.

2014 eARLY cAReeR ReSeARcheR gRAntS

this is a new category of grants for our younger 
researchers, registrars and junior consultants. these 
grants open in late 2014.

RegIStRAR And JunIOR cOnSuLtAnt ReSeARch 
SemInARS

the AoA RF will organise a research seminar for our 
younger researchers, registrars and junior consultants, 
based on the Royal Australasian college of surgeons’ 

clEER program. With the aim of fulfilling its mission 
of not only funding but also promoting orthopedic 
research especially at the grass roots, the AoA RF 
is working on a sponsorship plan which will allow all 
registrars to attend for free. the research seminar will 
cover ethics applications, grants application and ethical 
conduct of research as well as critical evaluation of 
literature.

new tReASuReR

We welcomed Dr David Martin to the Board of the 
AoA RF. the Board will be undertaking a strategic 
review of the AoA RF finances with the aim of 
adopting investment strategies in line with our core 
commitments.

new AppOIntmentS tO ReSeARch AdvISORY 
cOmmIttee

prof. ian Harris was appointed to the Research Advisory 
committee (RAc). He replaces prof. Jegan Krishnan 
who served on the RAc for many years. on behalf of 
the Board i thank prof. Krishnan for his many years of 
dedicated service to the RF. Further appointments are 
in the pipeline, with plans to form two separate sub-
committees; for clinical and basic sciences.

FInAnceS 

Finances remain healthy with assets growing by 
approximately $250,000 from $4.7 million to $4.9 
million in 2014. overall revenue remained stable at 
$395,480, with an operating surplus of $241,069, down 
from $328,126 last year. last year’s revenue of $558,721 
included income of $145,899 from the musculoskeletal 

cH A iR  oF AoA RE sE A RcH Fo unDAtion –  mInOO pAteL

the research foundation has had another successful year 
increasing its assets and awarding grants of over $125,000 
for 2014. 

Research Foundation Report
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project, funding for which has now ceased. the grants 
awarded last year totalled $152,727, more than double 
the grants of $71,647 awarded in 2012. this year it 
has been decided to reduce the grants awarded to 
$125,000, a more sustainable amount. 

InduStRY FundIng

prof. peter choong, Mr Adrian cosenza, Mr Jeff clark 
and i met with the cEos of the major orthopaedic 
companies in sydney in August. the us legislation, 
in particular the sunshine Act, now constrains how 
companies may fund research and foundations such as 
the AoA RF. this means that the AoA RF has to evolve 
with the changing times to look for other avenues of 
fund raising. the AoA RF will commence a philanthropy 
drive and introduce a bequest project to allow high 
net worth individuals within the AoA and the general 
community to contribute to the worthy cause of 
orthopaedic research.
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orthopaedic outreach activity remains at a high level to 
all our traditional areas of support throughout the pacific, 
timor, indonesia and other areas of south-East Asia.

An area of concern and uncertainty is the disbandment 
of AusAiD now being incorporated into the Department 
of Foreign Affairs and trade (DFAt). this presents a 
potential shift of aid priorities. it appears at this stage 
that the pacific islands program and the strengthening 
specialised clinical services in the pacific will continue 
but the level of funding is uncertain.

FInAnceS

the support from the AoA Board is greatly appreciated 
particularly in light of the diminishing finances from 
the orthopaedic industry. Whilst our financial situation 
remains sound, this year the Board of Management 
decided to place a limit on the financial support 
provided for each surgeon, and established that first 
time contributors self-fund. this is consistent with other 
Australian humanitarian organisations. 

A recruitment drive for contributions to outreach by 
subscription was successful in raising approximately 
$17,000 for our cause. this, combined with major 
donations from a single benefactor, has prevented any 
surgical visits being curtailed.

pROJectS

Fiji continues to experience changes in the delivery 
of medical education through the school of Medicine 
within the Fiji national university, providing uncertainty 
and major challenges in the provision of service to the 
local populations. As the primary medical education 
facility in the pacific, this is of great concern.

skills-based workshops held in cambodia led by  
A/prof. Graham Gumley and the hand microsurgery 
workshops in vietnam coordinated by Dr peter scougall 
with the assistance of Australian Hand society members 
continue to be outstanding successes. 

professor Bill cumming amongst other Australian 
delegates met with professor Mohamed Hidayat, 
chairman of the indonesian college of orthopaedics 
and trauma and Dr putu Astawa, Dean of Medicine at 
sanglah university in Bali noting that the original 10 
year agreement had come to a conclusion. Whilst no 
formal written agreement has been reached it was clear 
that our indonesian colleagues wish to continue the 
strong relationship with a particular focus on education 
and examining. this is further consolidated through 
the influence of nursing professor Di Brown, continuing 
to foster the relationship between Royal Darwin and 
sanglah Hospitals.

the pacific island training program in the solomons, 
led by Dr Des soares has completed its 5th module, 
and will be reported on at the AsM. Whilst funded 
independently from switzerland, outreach members 
actively participate.

i acknowledge all my colleagues who donate their time 
and expertise repeatedly to help achieve the ideals 
of orthopaedic outreach. it is also satisfying to note 
the presidential line containing two long term active 
outreach members in Dr John tuffley and Dr Andreas 
loefler, ensuring outreach maintains an appropriate 
profile amongst the Board.

cH A iR  oF oR t HopA EDic o u t RE AcH –  Stephen QuAIn

some changes and continuing challenges in the landscape.

orthopaedic outreach Report
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the first half of 2014 has seen 28 applications processed for AoA memberships. the 
streamlined application process has enabled time-complete and exam-complete 
trainees to be fast tracked without the requirement of providing references.

new Fellows 2013-2014

new Associates 2013-2014

Allcock paul sA
idris Arogundade vic
Aziz Bhimani nsW
Roger Bingham vic
Robert Baird sA
Arshad Barmare vic
David Broe nsW
terence chin vic
James chiu vic
Jonathan Dick QlD
Eugene Ek vic
Kevin Eng vic

camdon Fary vic 
cem Gultekin QlD
sanjeev Gupta nsW
Dennis Hartig QlD
Amen Hassan QlD
Majid Jabur QlD
Evan Jones nsW
yasser Khatib nsW
Gawel Kulisiewicz Act
lloyd King QlD
Benjamin Miller vic
Mohamad Mourad nsW

Bandulasena palapitige nt
James Rhorsheim nsW
Andrew patten QlD
Kalman piper nsW
Michael selby sA
Kate stannage WA
Jaikrishnan sungaran nsW
Austin vo vic 
Robert Wallace sA
nicola Ward QlD

Mohammed Baba nsW
christopher Bell QlD
peter D’Alessandro WA
umeshchandra Dhanjee QlD
travis Falconer WA
ilan Freedman vic
Juliette Gentle vic
shyan Goh nsW
Ashish Gupta QlD
Janet Hsuan vic
sam Joseph vic
Jacob Kaplan nsW
troy Keith vic
Martin laird nsW
David lieu nsW

Alan loch vic
catherine McDougall QlD
James Mclean sA
Avanthi Mandaleson vic
Andrew Myers nsW
catherine McDougall QlD
James Mclean sA
Eli olschewski nsW
William pianta vic
igor policinski nsW
Gareth prosser WA
christopher phoon nsW
Ross Radic WA
sunil Randhawa nsW
sasha Roshan-Zamir nsW

Dinesh sharma QlD
louis shidiak nsW
Mark shillington QlD
Bjorn smith QlD
Daniel sydenham vic 
Arash taheri WA
christopher Wainwright  nsW
Matthew yalizis nsW
Julian yu nsW

Membership
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Deceased Members 2013-2014

Honours & Awards 2013-2014

Richard Horton vic
Alan nicholls nsW
peter isbister nsW
ian Mcnicol-smith vic
thomas parsons QlD

l o Betts Memorial Medal:

life Fellow: 

Award for Humanitarian service:

Award for Meritorious service:

orthopaedic Education:

Award for orthopaedic Research: 

special Award:  

leadership Award:

Bernard Einoder

John Walters &  
Miron Goldwasser

Robert Genat

Michael sandow

Graham Gumley

Michael schuetz &  
Zsolt Balogh

Michael Falkenberg &  
David Davidson

Kelly Macgroarty &  
simon Zilko

new Affiliates 2013-2014

David Ackland vic
Reto lerf   switzerland
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QLd 
298 (19%)

nSw 
532 (34%)

vIc 
348 (22%)

nt 

SA 
135 (9%)

wA 
146 (9%)

37 (2%)

Act 
26 (2%)

AGE R A nGE oF 
pR Ac ticinG 

AoA MEMBERs 

MEMBERs By  s tAt E

total number of members 
as of 30 June 2014 = 1551

(Dates of birth by decade)

Affiliate Registrars
232 (15%)

Associates
219 (14%)

Fellows
897 (58%)

Senior Fellows
140 (9%)

MEMBER 

t y pE s

Affiliates
13 (<1%)

Other Fellows
50 (3%)

Before 1940
3 (<1%)

1940-1949
80 (7%)

1950-1959
222 (20%)

1960-1969
323 (28%)

1970-1979
410 (36%)

1980 Onwards
101 (9%)

5 
(<1%)

Overseas

tAS 
24 (2%)
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99%

AoA stRAtEGy coMMunicAtions & EvEnts

percentage of members that regularly read the Bulletin. 

24
number of meetings in the events portfolio, increased 
from 0 in 2011. 

400%

75
percentage increase in value of media coverage over 
past 12 months from $1.2m in 2013 to $4.9m in 2014. 

media profileStrategic Initiatives

events

AOA Bulletin

MilEstonE DElivERy 
AcHiEvED tHRouGH 
tHE 2012-2015 AoA 
stRAtEGic plAn, 
AoA nJRR stRAtEGic 
plAn AnD AoA 21 
iMplEMEntAtion 
plAn.

number of milestones 
completed and/or 
substantially progressed.

Facts & Figures
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EDucAtion & tRAininG stAtistics

AoA member 
percentage of 
total Australian 
orthopaedic 
surgeons.

219
number of surgical 
Education & training 
applications received in 
2014 for the 2015 intake, 
an increase of 23%.

340%

36 3.8m

percentage increase in advocacy submissions since 2011.

Applications for research 
funding received in 2013-14.

training fees paid by AoA 
to RAcs 2008-14.

pro-bono equivalent 
of services donated 
by AoA members in 
overseas humanitarian 
activities. 

overall member 
satisfaction.

93
number of AoA 21 
milestones to be 
delivered, with more than 
500 associated tasks, over 
the next four years.

Set Selection Advocacy

Research RAcS

membership Outreach member 
Satisfaction

AOA 21

$1m98% 90%

AOA



27

BOARd cOmmIttee chAIRmAn

Executive committee peter choong

Asia-pacific committee Daryl teague

Audit and Risk committee John tuffley

constitution and Regulations Review committee peter choong

continuing professional Development committee Michael Johnson

Fellowships committee Andrew Ellis

ABc travelling Fellowship committee William Donnelly

scientific committee Allan Wang

Honours and nominations committee peter choong

nJRR committee Ed Marel

professional conduct and standards committee Michael Johnson

Rural surgeons committee vinny Mamo

subspecialty presidents’ committee Andreas loefler

Federal training committee ian incoll

Ad hOc cOmmItteeS And wORkIng gROupS chAIRmAn

spinal Education committee Richard Williams

Digital imaging committee John tuffley

A Loefler

p choong

p S mackie

J tuffley

d martin

A ellis m gillespie

A wang

I Incoll

c whitewood

B halliday

m A Johnson

BoARD coMMittEEs As At 30 JunE 2014

DiREctoRs As At 30 JunE 2014
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SummARY

A surplus of $563,382 resulted from AoA’s operations 
for the year compared to the prior year’s result of 
$526,680. the positive result is comprised of surpluses 
of $270,087 for AoA Head office, $214,104 for state 
branches, $21,665 for other entities (Medico-legal 
society, World orthopaedic concern, and the ian 
stratton trust), and $57,526 from the AoA national 
Joint Replacement Registry. unrealised gains for 
the year on market-related investments amounted 
to $343,146. AoA continued to invest in initiatives of 
strategic importance, the most significant of which was 
AoA 21, and $584,719 was expended in this area during 
the year. the result for the year of $563,382 includes 
the strategic expenditure, giving a surplus from normal 
operations of $1,148,101 compared to $925,437 in 
2012/13.

mARket InveStmentS

Although AoA benefited from continuing gains in 
market-related investments, interest rates maintained 
their downward trajectory during the year and resulted 
in net finance revenue being lower than the previous 
year ($579,324 in 2013/14 compared to $669,834 for 
2012/13). As foreshadowed in last year’s report, the 
bias towards cash maintained during the Global 
Financial crisis has been progressively and gradually 
eased in favour of a less conservative risk profile and 
towards a more balanced portfolio. the Audit and 
Risk committee continues to carefully monitor the risk 
profile and investment strategy.

OpeRAtIng Revenue/expenSeS

operating revenue for the year of $8,730,545, including 
finance revenue, increased by 0.2% compared to 
revenue of $8,716,034 in 2012/13. operating expenses 
of $8,167,163 were 0.3% lower than 2012/13’s expenses 
of $8,189,354. When expenditure on strategic initiatives 
is removed from operating expenses, normal operating 
expenses for the 2013/14 year reduced by 2.7%. the 
following graphs provide a pictorial view of income and 
expenses for the 2013/14 year:

tRE A suRER –  dAvId mARtIn cH A iR ,  Au Dit  &  R isK  co M Mit tEE –  JOhn tuFFLe Y

AoA continues capability-building and achieves 
sound result.

treasurer Report

training 
activities
$1,327,440

Scientific meetings 
and conferences

$2,431,224

grants and 
donations
$2,185,776

Finance revenue
$604,037

inco ME

members’ subscriptions
$1,346,096

Other
$492,826

unrealised gain  
on managed Fund

$343,146
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StRAtegIc InItIAtIveS

AoA’s best practice program continued in the year 
under review and it is pleasing to be able to report 
that it has moved into the implementation phase. the 
program is branded ‘AoA 21’, and implementation is 
planned to progress over a period of eight years. As part 
of the AoA 21 initiative, AoA is investing in significant 
improvements to its information technology systems 
with a view to ensuring that the trainee experience is as 
seamless as possible incorporating mobile technology. 
these developments will continue in the current and 
later financial years. As noted above, an investment of 
$584,719 was directed to AoA 21 in 2013/14.

memBeRShIp

the Association’s membership at 30 June 2014 totalled 
1551 compared to 1530 at 30 June 2013. Membership 
subscriptions, including state branch subscriptions, 
increased by 6.6% in 2013/14 compared to an increase 
of 10.4% in 2012/13. the increase reflects the growth 
in member numbers and the usual cpi-related 
membership fee adjustments.

memBeRS’ eQuItY

Members’ equity in the Association increased by 
$563,382 to $17,508,729 at 30 June 2014 compared to 
$16,945,347 at 30 June 2013, an increase of 3.3%. total 
assets increased by $491,439 to $19,167,971 and total 
liabilities were lower at $1,659,242 (last year $1,731,185). 
Funds invested increased by $883,717 for the year to 
$15,076,783. Grants to associated entities including the 

AoA Research Foundation and orthopaedic outreach 
amounted to $263,198 compared to $309,696 in the 
previous year.

gOveRnAnce

the Audit and Risk Management committee of the 
Board, chaired by vice-president John tuffley, met three 
times during the year ended 30 June 2014 to oversee 
financial and risk management practices. Regular reviews 
of the Association’s financial management reports 
were undertaken during the year. the Association’s 
insurance policies were reviewed in detail and as a result 
of that review it was determined that a cyber Risk policy 
should be added to the insurance portfolio. insurance 
consultants advised that this is a growing area of risk and 
one which has the potential to impose substantial cost 
in the event of hacking incidents which expose privacy 
information. An in-depth review of the Association’s 
investment portfolio was also undertaken, and, as noted 
earlier in this report, a gradual easing of the previous 
bias towards cash in favour of a more balanced portfolio 
was determined upon. the Association’s investment 
profile, however, continues to be conservative. A test of 
the Association’s disaster recovery plan was undertaken 
during the year under review with the exercise validating 
the plan and resulting in a satisfactory outcome.

Scientific 
meetings
$1,669,426

Administration
$366,895

grants
$263,198

nJRR
$2,149,986

travel
$557,516

E x pEnsEs

employment
$2,302,387

Other
$857,755
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Directors’ Report for the year Ended 30 June 2014

your directors present this report on the Australian orthopaedic Association limited for the financial year ended 30 
June 2014.

dIRectORS 
the names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

dIRectOR   tItLe*       AppOInted/ReSIgned

J W owen   president      Resigned 08/10/2013
p F M choong   president      Appointed 26/10/2004
J c tuffley   First vice president     Appointed 10/10/2012
    chair – Audit & Risk committee 
A H loefler   second vice president     Appointed 19/05/2008
A M Ellis   Branch Director, nsW     Appointed 10/10/2011
M J Gillespie   Branch Director, Act     Appointed 10/10/2012
B R Halliday   Branch Director, QlD     Appointed 06/10/2013
i W incoll   chair – Education & training    Appointed 20/03/2009
M A Johnson   chair – professional Development & standards  Appointed 14/10/2009
p s Mackie   Branch Director, tAs     Appointed 20/05/2011
D K Martin   Branch Director, sA & treasurer    Appointed 10/10/2012
p B steadman   Branch Director, QlD, treasurer    Resigned 08/10/2013
A W Wang   scientific secretary     Appointed 10/10/2011
c n Whitewood   Branch Director, WA     Appointed 10/10/2012
R p Williams   General Director     Resigned 08/10/2013

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.
*title as at 30 June 2014 or upon resignation.

dIRectORS’ QuALIFIcAtIOnS
Each director is an orthopaedic surgeon 

chIeF executIve And cOmpAnY SecRetARY
A R cosenza Bcom, Mcom, MBA (iMD), FcpA, FAicD, FFinsia

Aus tR A l i A n oR tHopA EDic A sso ci At ion l iMitED –  ABn 45 000 759 795

Financial Report for year End June 2014



31

pRIncIpAL ActIvItIeS

the principal activity of the Association during the 
year was to give effect to the company’s objectives 
described below.

the company’s objectives, both short and long term, 
are to:

a. Foster and maintain the highest standard of surgical 
practice and ethics in orthopaedic surgery;

b. Advance the practice of orthopaedic surgery;

c. promote research into musculoskeletal conditions;

d. provide postgraduate education in orthopaedic 
surgery and, as necessary, accreditation in 
orthopaedic surgery;

e. support orthopaedic humanitarian initiatives in 
Australia and overseas;

f. Foster scientific interchange between orthopaedic 
surgeons; and

g. Act as an authority and adviser in relation to 
musculoskeletal conditions and orthopaedic surgery.

StRAtegIeS

to achieve these objectives, the company has adopted 
a strategy of requiring that all proposals presented for 
Board approval include statements describing how the 
proposals comply with and advance the company’s 
objectives.

keY peRFORmAnce meASuReS

the company measures its own performance through 
the use of both quantitative and qualitative benchmarks. 
the benchmarks are used by the directors to assess the 
financial sustainability of the company and whether the 
company’s objectives are being met.

keY peRFORmAnce meASuReS 2014 2013

service quality-measured by member satisfaction surveys 90% 87%

number of trainee surgeons 222 222

Fellowship exam pass rates 64% 73%

Advocacy submissions to government bodies 17 13

Membership – total members 1,551 1,530

AoA member percentage of total Australian orthopaedic surgeons 98% 98%

number of scientific meetings (completed or in planning) 24 18

Website visits 10,500 9,700
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numBeR 
eLIgIBLe tO 

Attend

numBeR 
Attended

J W owen 4 4

p F M choong 5 3

J c tuffley 5 5

A M Ellis 5 5

M J Gillespie 5 4

B R Halliday 1 1

i W incoll 5 4

M A Johnson 5 2

A H loefler 5 4

p s Mackie 5 4

D K Martin 5 4

p B steadman 4 2

A W Wang 5 3

c n Whitewood 5 5

R p Williams 4 2

OpeRAtIng ReSuLtS

the profit of the Association amounted to $563,382 (2012-
2013 $526,680).

meetIngS OF dIRectORS

During the financial year, five meetings of directors were 
held. Attendances by each director were as follows:

memBeRS’ guARAntee

the company is incorporated under the corporations 
Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. if 
the company is wound up, the constitution states that 
each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
$10 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations 
of the entity. At 30 June 2014, the total amount that 
members of the company are liable to contribute if the 
company is wound up is $15,510 (2013 $15,300).

AudItOR’S Independence decLARAtIOn

the lead auditor’s independence declaration for the 
year ended 30 June 2014 can be found adjacent to this 
directors’ report.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors:

p F M choong   D K Martin 
president and chairman  treasurer 
Dated this 10th day of september 2014

AuDitoR’s inDEpEnDEncE DEclARAtion unDER 
sEction 307c oF tHE coRpoRAtions Act 2001 
to tHE DiREctoRs oF AustRAliAn oRtHopAEDic 
AssociAtion liMitED

i declare to the best of my knowledge and belief that 
during the year ended 30 June 2014 there have been:

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence 
requirements as set out in the corporations Act 
2001 in relation to the audit; and

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of 
professional conduct in relation to the audit.

stiRlinG intERnAtionAl

R c Williams
signed at sydney this 27th day of August 2014
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We have audited the accompanying financial report, 
being a special purpose financial report, of Australian 
orthopaedic Association limited, which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration.  

dIRectORS’ ReSpOnSIBILItY FOR the FInAncIAL 
RepORt

the directors of the company are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and have determined that the basis 
of preparation described in note 1 to the financial 
report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the 
corporations Act 2001 and is appropriate to meet the 
needs of the members. the directors’ responsibility 
also includes such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
a financial report that gives a true and fair view and is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

AudItOR’S ReSpOnSIBILItY

our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on our audit. We have conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing 
standards. those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. the procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error. in making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the company’s preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Independence 

in conducting our audit, we have complied with the 
independence requirements of the corporations Act 
2001. We confirm that the independence declaration 
required by the corporations Act 2001, which has 
been given to the directors of Australian orthopaedic 
Association limited, would be in the same terms if given 
to the directors as at the time of the auditor’s report.

OpInIOn

in our opinion the financial report of Australian 
orthopaedic Association limited is in accordance with 
the corporations Act 2001, including: 

a. giving a true and fair view of the company’s 
financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and  

b. complying with Australian Accounting standards to 
the extent described in note 1 and complying with 
the corporations Regulations 2001.  

BASIS OF AccOuntIng

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to 
note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis 
of accounting. the financial report has been prepared 
for the purpose of fulfilling the directors’ financial 
reporting responsibilities under the corporations 
Act 2001. As a result, the financial report may not be 
suitable for another purpose.

stiRlinG intERnAtionAl

Roger Williams FcA
Dated this 11th day of september 2014

independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Australian orthopaedic 
Association limited



34

Directors’ Declaration

the Directors have determined that the company is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial 
report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in note 1 to the financial 
statements.

the directors of the company declare that:

1. the financial statements and notes set out below and on the following pages are in accordance with the 
corporations Act 2001, and

 a.  comply with the Australian Accounting standards applicable to the company; and

 b.  give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of the performance for the year 
ended on that date in accordance with the accounting policies described in note 1 of the financial 
statements.

2. in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable.

this declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

p F M choong    D K Martin 
president and chairman   treasurer 
Dated this 10th day of september 2014
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note 2014 2013

 $   $

Revenue

Revenue from ordinary activities -

Members' subscriptions 1,346,096 1,262,264

training activities 1,327,440 906,778

scientific meetings and conferences 2,431,224 2,920,489

Grants and donations 2(a) 2,185,776 1,862,706

Finance revenue 2(b) 604,037 692,567

net fair value gains on the measurement of  
investments in managed funds

2(c) 343,146 596,542

other 2(d) 492,826 474,688

total revenue from ordinary activities 8,730,545 8,716,034

expenses

Employment 2,302,387 2,261,501

scientific meetings and conferences 1,669,426 1,841,279

Administration 366,895 447,561

Advertising and promotion 67,309 46,456

Depreciation and amortisation  3(a) 85,840 60,122

Grants  3(b) 263,198 309,696

occupancy 202,349 194,746

prizes, fellowships and awards 18,359 164,405

professional services  3(c) 358,030 249,573

project expenditures - national Joint Replacement Registry 2,149,986 2,005,240

travel 557,516 520,023

Finance costs 24,713 22,734

other  3(d) 101,155 66,018

total expenses 8,167,163 8,189,354

Surplus for the year 563,382 526,680

Other comprehensive income

other comprehensive income 0 0

total other comprehensive income 0 0

total comprehensive income attributable to members of the 
Association

563,382 526,680

the accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2014
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note 2014 2013

  $   $

current Assets

cash on hand 4 7,631,220 7,716,255

Accounts receivable and other debtors 5 1,110,438 1,204,638

other current assets 6 486,887 413,306

total current assets 9,228,545 9,334,199

non current Assets

Financial assets 7 9,660,573 9,041,638

property, plant and equipment 8 130,810 166,430

intangibles 9 148,043 134,265

total non current assets 9,939,426 9,342,333

total Assets 19,167,971 18,676,532

current Liabilities

Accounts payable and other payables 10 1,482,345 1,592,933

provisions 11(a) 144,126 121,496

total current liabilities 1,626,471 1,714,429

non current Liabilities

provisions 11(b) 32,771 16,756

total non current liabilities 32,771 16,756

total liabilities 1,659,242 1,731,185

net assets 17,508,729 16,945,347

equity

Retained earnings 12 17,508,729 16,945,347

total equity 17,508,729 16,945,347

the accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

statement of Financial position
At 30 June 2014
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statement of cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2014

note 2014 2013

  $   $

cash flow from operating activities

Members’ subcriptions 1,602,367 1,168,034

training activities 995,309 906,778

Grants and donations 2,433,258 2,038,085

scientific meetings and conferences 3,071,232 3,894,431

investment income 647,888 648,438

other 539,979 499,620

payments to suppliers and employees (9,035,282) (8,933,603)

net cash provided by operating activities 13 (a) 254,751 221,783

cash flows from investing activities

payments for plant and equipment (21,260) (11,110)

payments for intangibles (44,284) (124,496)

investment in managed funds (274,242) 314,106

net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (339,786) 178,500

net (decrease)/increase in cash held (85,035) 400,283

cash on hand at the beginning of the financial year 7,716,255 7,315,972

cash on hand at the end of the financial year 13 (b) 7,631,220 7,716,255

the accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

statement of changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2014

  $

Balance at 1 July 2012  16,418,667 

comprehensive Income

surplus for the year  526,680 

total comprehensive income  526,680 

Balance at 30 June 2013  16,945,347 

comprehensive Income

surplus for the year  563,382 

total comprehensive income  563,382 

Balance at 30 June 2014  17,508,729 

the accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2014

the financial statements cover Australian orthopaedic 
Association limited as an entity. Australian orthopaedic 
Association limited is a company limited by guarantee, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. the financial 
statements were authorised for issue on 10 september 
2014 by the directors of the company.

nOte 1: SummARY OF SIgnIFIcAnt AccOuntIng 
pOLIcIeS

the directors have prepared the financial statements 
on the basis that the company is a non-reporting entity 
because there are no users who are dependent on its 
general purpose financial statements. these financial 
statements are therefore special purpose financial 
statements that have been prepared in order to meet 
the requirements of the corporations Act 2001. the 
company is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting 
purposes under Australian Accounting standards. 

BASIS OF pRepARAtIOn

the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the mandatory Australian Accounting 
standards applicable to entities reporting under the 
corporations Act 2001 and the significant accounting 
policies disclosed below, which the directors have 
determined are appropriate to meet the needs of 
members. such accounting policies are consistent with 
those of previous periods unless stated otherwise.

the financial statements, except for the cash flow 
information, have been prepared on an accruals 
basis and are based on historical costs unless 
otherwise stated in the notes. Material accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements are presented below and have been 
consistently applied unless stated otherwise. the 
amounts presented in the financial statements have 
been rounded to the nearest dollar.

AccOuntIng pOLIcIeS

A. Revenue

non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in the profit 
or loss when the entity obtains control of the grant 
and it is probable that the economic benefits gained 
from the grant will flow to the entity and the amount 
of the grant can be measured reliably. if conditions are 

attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it 
is eligible to receive the contribution, the recognition 
of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those 
conditions are satisfied.

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity 
incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly 
back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal 
transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in 
the statement of financial position as a liability until 
the service has been delivered to the contributor, 
otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

Membership fees and sponsorship revenue is 
recognised when the right to receive the revenue has 
been established

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue 
when received. 

interest revenue is recognised as it accrues using 
the effective interest method, which for floating rate 
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. 

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised 
upon the delivery of the service to the members.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and 
services tax.

B.  pROpeRtY, pLAnt And eQuIpment

Plant and equipment

plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis 
less depreciation and any impairment losses.

the carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in 
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. 
the recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of 
the expected net cash flows that will be received from 
the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal. the 
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their 
present values in determining recoverable amounts.

in the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment 
is greater than the recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated 
recoverable amount. A formal assessment of recoverable 
amount is made when impairment indicators are present 
(refer to note 1(d) for details of impairment).

notes to the Financial statements
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plant and equipment that have been contributed at 
no cost, or for nominal cost, are recognised at the fair 
value of the asset at the date it is acquired. 

depRecIAtIOn 

the depreciable amount of all fixed assets including 
buildings and capitalised lease assets, but excluding 
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the asset’s useful life to the entity commencing 
from the time the asset is held ready for use. leasehold 
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either 
the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
lives of the improvements.

the depreciation rates used for each class of 
depreciable assets are: 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation  Rate

Furniture, fixtures and fittings  20-40%

plant and equipment    20-40%

library     20-25%

leasehold improvements  20%

intangibles    20-40%

the assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end  
of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  
these gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss  
in the period in which they arise. When revalued assets 
are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset are transferred to  
retained earnings.

c. FInAncIAL InStRumentS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this 
is equivalent to the date that the company commits 

itself to either purchase or sell the asset (ie trade date 
accounting is adopted). 

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value 
plus transaction costs except where the instrument is 
classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which 
case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss 
immediately.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at 
fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, or cost. Where available, quoted prices in an 
active market are used to determine fair value. in other 
circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which 
the financial asset or financial liability is measured 
at initial recognition less principal repayments and 
any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any 
cumulative amortisation of the difference between 
that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated 
using the effective interest method.

the effective interest method is used to allocate 
interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
(including fees, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life (or when 
this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual 
term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 
Revisions to expected future net cash flows will 
necessitate an adjustment to the carrying amount with 
a consequential recognition of an income or expense 
item in profit or loss.

Fair value is the price the company would receive to sell 
an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an 
orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, 
knowledgeable and willing market participants at the 
measurement date. Fair value is determined based on 
current bid prices for all quoted investments. valuation 
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for 
all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to similar instruments and 
option pricing models.

notes to the Financial statements continued...
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(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified at ‘fair value through 
profit or loss’ when they are held for trading for the 
purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held 
for hedging purposes, or when they are designated 
as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable 
performance evaluation where a group of financial 
assets is managed by key management personnel on a 
fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy. such assets are 
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in 
carrying amount being included in profit or loss.

(ii) Loans and receivables

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation 
process and when the financial asset is derecognised.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed 
or determinable payments, and it is the company’s 
intention to hold these investments to maturity. they 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains 
or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the 
amortisation process and when the financial asset is 
derecognised.

(iv) Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative 
financial assets that are either not capable of being 
classified into other categories of financial assets 
due to their nature or they are designated as such by 
management. they comprise investments in the equity 
of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity 
nor fixed or determinable payments.

they are subsequently measured at fair value with 
any remeasurements other than impairment losses 
and foreign exchange gains and losses recognised 
in other comprehensive income. When the financial 
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 

pertaining to that asset previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified into profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-
current assets when they are not expected to be sold 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
All other available-for-sale financial assets are classified 
as current assets.

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the company 
assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset has been impaired. A financial asset is 
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events (a ‘loss event’) having occurred, which has 
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial assets.

in the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a 
significant or prolonged decline in the market value of 
the instrument is considered to constitute a loss event. 
impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Also, any cumulative decline in fair value 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified into profit or loss at this point.

in the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
loss events may include: indications that the debtors or 
a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments; indications that they will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganisation; and changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including 
loans and receivables), a separate allowance account 
is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial 
assets impaired by credit losses. After having taken 
all possible measures of recovery, if the management 
establishes that the carrying amount cannot be 
recovered by any means, at that point the written-off 
amounts are charged to the allowance account or the 
carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly if no impairment amount was previously 
recognised in the allowance accounts.
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When the terms of financial assets that would 
otherwise have been past due or impaired have 
been renegotiated, the company recognises the 
impairment for such financial assets by taking into 
account the original terms as if the terms have not been 
renegotiated so that the loss events that have occurred 
are duly considered.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual 
rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the entity no 
longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 
risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability, which is extinguished or transferred to another 
party, and the fair value of consideration paid, including 
the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in profit or loss.

d. ImpAIRment OF ASSetS

At the end of each reporting period, the entity reviews 
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have been impaired. if such an indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher 
of the asset’s fair amount less costs to sell and value in 
use, is compared to the asset’s carrying amount. Any 
excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable 
amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are 
not primarily dependent upon on the asset’s ability to 
generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, 
if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future 
economic benefits, value in use is determined as the 
depreciated replacement cost of an asset.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of a class of asset, the entity estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is 
identified, this is debited against the revaluation surplus 

in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that 
the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the 
revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.

e. empLOYee pROvISIOnS

Short-term employee benefits 

provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-
term employee benefits. short-term employee benefits 
are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are 
expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after 
the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service, including wages, 
salaries and sick leave. short-term employee benefits are 
measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to 
be paid when the obligation is settled.

the company’s obligations for short-term employee 
benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are 
recognised as a part of accounts payable and other 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

contributions are made by the entity to an employee 
superannuation fund and are charged as expenses when 
incurred.

F. cASh On hAnd

cash on hand equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities 
on the statement of financial position.

g. AccOuntS ReceIvABLe And OtheR deBtORS

Accounts receivable and other debtors include 
amounts due from members and any outstanding 
grant receipts. Receivables expected to be collected 
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are 
classified as current assets. All other receivables are 
classified as non-current assets. 

h. gOOdS And SeRvIceS tAx (gSt)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of Gst, except where the amount of Gst 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian taxation 
office (Ato).

notes to the Financial statements continued...
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Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of Gst receivable or payable. the net amount 
of Gst recoverable from, or payable to, the Ato is 
included with other receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position.

cash flows are presented on a gross basis. the Gst 
components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to, the Ato are presented as operating cash 
flows included in receipts from customers or payments 
to suppliers.

I. IncOme tAx

no provision for income tax has been raised as the 
entity is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the 
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

J. IntAngIBLeS

Software

software is recorded at cost. it has a finite life and is 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
impairment losses. software has an estimated useful 
life of between one and three years. it is assessed 
annually for impairment.

k. pROvISIOnS

provisions are recognised when the entity has a legal 
or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. 
provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the 
amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of 
the reporting period.

L. cOmpARAtIve FIguReS

Where required by Accounting standards, comparative 
figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.

Where the company retrospectively applies an 
accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement 
or reclassifies items in its financial statements, a third 
statement of financial position as at the beginning 
of the preceding period in addition to the minimum 
comparative financial statements must be presented.

m. AccOuntS pAYABLe And OtheR pAYABLeS

trade and other payables represent the liability 
outstanding at the end of the reporting period for 
goods and services received by the company during 
the reporting period which remain unpaid. the balance 
is recognised as a current liability with the amount 
being normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the 
liability.

n. cRItIcAL AccOuntIng eStImAteS And 
JudgmentS 

the directors evaluate estimates and judgments 
incorporated into the financial statements based 
on historical knowledge and best available current 
information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current 
trends and economic data, obtained both externally 
and within the company.

O. keY eStImAteS 

Impairment

the company assesses impairment at the end of each 
reporting period by evaluating conditions and events 
specific to the company that may be indicative of 
impairment triggers. 

p. ecOnOmIc dependence

the Australian orthopaedic Association is not 
dependent on external agencies or government for the 
majority of its revenue used to operate the business.

p. new AccOuntIng StAndARdS FOR 
AppLIcAtIOn In FutuRe peRIOdS

AAsB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) 
and associated Amending standards (applicable for  
annual reporting periods commencing on or after  
1 January 2017).

these standards will be applicable retrospectively 
(subject to the provisions on hedge accounting) and 
include revised requirements for the classification 
and measurement of financial instruments, revised 
recognition and derecognition requirements for 
financial instruments, and simplified requirements for 
hedge accounting.
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the key changes that may affect the company on 
initial application of AAsB 9 and associated Amending 
standards include certain simplifications to the 
classification of financial assets, simplifications to 
the accounting of embedded derivatives, and the 
irrevocable election to recognise gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are not held 
for trading in other comprehensive income. AAsB 9 
also introduces a new model for hedge accounting 
that will allow greater flexibility in the ability to hedge 
risk, particularly with respect to the hedging of non-
financial items. should the entity elect to change its 
hedge accounting policies in line with the new hedge 
accounting requirements of AAsB 9, the application of 
such accounting would be largely prospective.

Although, the directors anticipate that the adoption 
of AAsB 9 may have an impact on the company’s 
financial instruments, including hedging activity, it is 
impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable 
estimate of such impact.

AAsB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, AAsB 
11: Joint Arrangements, AAsB 12: Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities, AAsB 127: Separate 
Financial Statements (August 2011) and AAsB 128: 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (August 
2011) (as amended by AAsB 2012–10: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance 
and Other Amendments), AAsB 2011–7: Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards and 
AAsB 2013–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for 
Not-for-Profit Entities – Control and Structured Entities 
(applicable to not-for-profit entities for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014).

AAsB 10 replaces parts of AAsB 127: Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and interpretation 
112: Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. AAsB 10 
provides a revised definition of “control” and additional 
application guidance so that a single control model will 
apply to all investees.

AAsB 12 contains the disclosure requirements 
applicable to entities that hold an interest in a 

subsidiary, joint venture, joint operation or associate. 
AAsB 12 also introduces the concept of a “structured 
entity”, replacing the “special purpose entity” concept 
currently used in interpretation 112, and requires 
specific disclosures in respect of any investments in 
unconsolidated structured entities.

to facilitate the application of AAsBs 10, 11 and 12, 
revised versions of AAsB 127 and AAsB 128 have also 
been issued.

AAsB 2013-8 amends AAsB 10 by adding an appendix 
to that standard to explain and illustrate how the 
principles in AAsB 10 apply from the perspective of 
not-for-profit entities in the private and public sectors. 
similarly, AAsB 2013–8 amends AAsB 12 by adding an 
appendix to that standard to explain the concept of a 
structured entity in a not-for-profit context. neither of 
these appendices apply to for-profit entities, nor affect 
the application of AAsB 10 or AAsB 12 by for-profit 
entities.

these standards are not expected to significantly impact the 
company’s financial statements. 

notes to the Financial statements continued...
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2014 2013

  $   $

note 2   Revenue

a) Revenue from (non-reciprocal) government grants and other grants

Grants and donations 23,776 162,706

project funding - AoAnJRR 2,162,000 1,700,000

2,185,776 1,862,706

b)  Finance Revenue

interest received-bank 226,069 232,285

income received-managed funds 377,968 460,282

604,037 692,567

c)  net fair value gains on the measurement of investments in managed funds

net fair value gains on the measurement of investments in managed 
funds managed by centric Wealth Advisers limited

343,146 596,542

343,146 596,542

d)  Other Income

Accredited fellowships 2,727 1,727

Administration and secretarial fees 41,920 35,500

Advertising 11,510 5,213

Advertising-AoA Bulletin 81,864 63,202

Fellowships administration 173,927 260,645

Hospital Audits 0 51,441

Royalties 10,837 13,171

Ad hoc reports - AoAnJRR 52,750 34,522

Governance Rebate 66,150 0

Miscellaneous 51,141 9,267

492,826 474,688

note 3   expenses

a)  depreciation

Building improvements 39,983 39,982

computer equipment 11,210 11,579

Furniture and fittings 97 122

plant and equipment 587 815

intangibles 33,963 7,624

85,840 60,122

b) grants

AoA Research Foundation ltd 100,000 100,000

AoA specialty societies and humanitarian grants 127,500 150,404

orthopaedic nurses Association-WA 3,000 3,000

Queensland orthopaedic Research trust 0 10,000

Australian paediatric orthopaedic society 12,000 2,000
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2014 2013

  $   $

Australasian sarcoma study Group 0 20,000

Foot and Ankle society 0 20,000

orthopaedic outreach grants by ian stratton trust 15,504 0

other minor grants 5,194 4,292

263,198 309,696

c) professional Services

Remuneration of auditors

for auditing services 20,300 17,500

for services other than auditing 1,850 420

consulting fees 236,674 174,688

legal fees 99,206 56,965

358,030 249,573

d) Other expenses

catering 12,958 14,045

Relationship reform-RAcs 42,854 51,205

Miscellaneous 45,343 768

101,155 66,018

note 4   cash on hand

cash 500 300

cheque accounts 2,214,510 2,564,527

term deposits 5,416,210 5,151,428

7,631,220 7,716,255

note 5   Accounts receivable and other debtors

trade receivables 1,019,469 1,069,819

interest receivable 90,969 134,819

1,110,438 1,204,638

note 6   Other current assets

prepaid expenses 176,238 127,930

Deposits paid for scientific meetings 310,649 285,376

486,887 413,306

note 7   Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

investment in managed funds (at market value) 9,660,573 8,641,638

term deposits - RaboBank 0 400,000

9,660,573 9,041,638

note 8   property, plant and equipment 

improvements (at cost) 198,638 198,638

notes to the Financial statements continued...
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Employee provisions represent amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.

the current portion of this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the 
amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the 
required period of service. Based on past experience, the company does not expect the full amount of annual leave 
or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. However, these 
amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the company does not have an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave entitlement.

the non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have 
not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service.

2014 2013

  $   $

less accumulated amortisation (145,324) (105,341)

53,314 93,297

Furniture, fixtures and fittings (at cost) 777 777

less accumulated depreciation (390) (293)

387 484

plant and equipment (at cost) 171,984 150,724

less accumulated depreciation (95,720) (79,429)

76,264 71,295

computer Equipment-WA Branch (at cost) 4,990 4,990

less accumulated depreciation (4,145) (3,636)

845 1,354

total property, plant and equipment (at cost) 376,389 355,129

less accumulated depreciation (245,579) (188,699)

130,810 166,430

note 9   Intangibles

computer software 202,135 159,398

less accumulated amortisation (54,092) (25,133)

148,043 134,265

note 10   Accounts payable and other payables

trade payables and accruals 1,033,890 1,162,419

Deferred revenue - scientific meetings 188,309 137,223

Goods and services tax payable 69,499 148,879

payroll payables 45,446 37,492

payables to associated entities 145,201 106,920

1,482,345 1,592,933

note 11   provisions

a) current - Employee annual leave 144,126 121,496

b) non-current - Employee long service leave 32,771 16,756

176,897 138,252
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notes to the Financial statements continued...

2014 2013

  $   $

note 12   equity

Retained earnings at 30 June 2013 16,945,347 16,418,667

surplus attributable to members 563,382 526,680

other comprehensive income for the year 0 0

Retained earnings at 30 June 2014 17,508,729 16,945,347

note 13 (a) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with suplus for the year

surplus attributable to members for the year 563,382 526,680

non cash flows in surplus -

Depreciation 85,840 60,122

provision for employee leave entitlements 38,644 20,651

unrealised gain in managed funds (343,146) (596,542)

changes in assets and liabilities

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 94,200 (450,862)

Decrease in prepayments and deposits (73,581) (133,494)

(Decrease)/increase in payables (110,588) 795,228

cash provided by operating activities 254,751 221,783

note 13 (b) Reconciliation of cash

cash on hand 500 300

cash at bank 2,214,510 2,564,527

cash on deposit 5,416,210 5,151,428

7,631,220 7,716,255

note 14

the Association controls the AoA conference and Event Management trust which is a unit trust responsible for 
organising and managing events.  All of the surplus of the trust has been distributed to the Association and assets 
and liabilities of the trust have been consolidated with those of the Association.  the financial position of the trust 
at 30 June 2014 was as follows:

cash and cash equivalents  14,737  302,557 

trade and other receivables  255,681  569,810 

prepayments and deposits  384,598  336,447 

total Assets  655,016  1,208,814 

trade and other payables  655,016  1,208,814 

total Liabilities  655,016  1,208,814 

net Assets  -    -   

note 15 Association details

the registered office and principal place of business of the Australian orthopaedic Association limited is level 12, 
45 clarence street, sydney.
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note 2014 2013

$ $

FInAncIAL ASSetS

cash on hand 4 7,631,220 7,716,255

Managed funds at market value 7 9,660,573 9,041,638

Receivables 5 1,110,438 1,204,638

total Financial Assets 18,402,231 17,962,531

FInAncIAL LIABILItIeS

trade and other payables 10 1,482,345 1,592,933

total Financial Liabilities 1,482,345 1,592,933

A) mARket RISk 

   (i) interest rate risk 

 Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial 
assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end 
of the reporting period whereby a future change 
in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the 
fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. the 
company is also exposed to earnings volatility on 
floating rate instruments.

 the financial instruments that expose the company 
to interest rate risk are limited to lease liabilities, 
listed shares, government and fixed interest 
securities, and cash on hand.

 the company also manages interest rate risk by 
ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are paid 
within any pre-agreed credit terms.

 the company’s exposure to interest rate risk and the 
effective weighted interest rate for classes of financial 
assets and financial liabilities are set out below:-

note 16 members’ guarantee

the company is incorporated under the corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee.  if the com-
pany is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $10 towards 
meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity.  At 30 June 2014, the number of members was 1551 (2013 1530).

note 17 Financial Risk management

the company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, man-
aged funds, accounts receivable and payable.

the totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AAsB 139 as detailed in the 
accounting policies to these financial statements are as follows :-

note weighted 
Average 
Interest 

Rate

Floating 
Interest 

Rate

Fixed Interest 
maturing in

non-
Interest 
Bearing

total

1 year 
or less

1 to 5 
years

2014 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

FInAncIAL ASSetS

cash on hand 4 3.43% 2,215 5,416 0 0 7,631

investments 7 3.53% 9,661 0 0 0 9,661

Receivables 5 0 0 0 1,110 1,110

total 11,876 5,416 0 1,110 18,402

FInAncIAL LIABILItIeS

Accounts payable 10 0 0 0 1,482 1,482

0 0 0 1,482 1,482
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notes to the Financial statements continued...

Fair value hierarchy

AAsB 13: Fair value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value 
hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level 
that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows:

Level 1 level 2 level 3

Measurements based on quoted 
prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the 
measurement date.

Measurements based on inputs other 
than quoted prices included in level 
1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the asset or 
liability. 

the fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more 
valuation techniques. these valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market 
data. if all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or liability is included in level 2.  
if one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in level 3. 

   (ii) other price risk 

 other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value 
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other 
than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 
risk) of securities held.

 the company is exposed to other price risk on 
investments held for trading or for medium to longer 
terms. such risk is managed through diversification 
of investments across industries and geographical 
locations and management has been delegated to a 
fund manager, centric Wealth.

 centric Wealth invests the company’s funds through 
other managed funds spread through a range of 
sectors in order to minimise risk.

B) FOReIgn cuRRencY RISk

the company is not exposed to fluctuations in foreign 
currencies.

c) LIQuIdItY RISk

the company manages liquidity risk by monitoring 
forecast cash flows.

d) cRedIt RISk

the company does not have any material credit risk 
exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under 
financial instruments entered into by the company.

the company does not have any derivative financial 
instruments.

e) pRIce RISk

the company is not exposed to commodity price risk.

F) net FAIR vALueS

the company measures and recognises the following  
assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition.

  – financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

the company does not subsequently measure any 
liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any assets or 
liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis.
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note 18 credit Risk – trade and other receivables

the company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables.

the following table details the company’s accounts receivable and other debtors exposed to credit risk (prior to 
collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts 
are considered as ‘past due’ when the debt has not been settled within the terms and conditions agreed between 
the company and the customer or counterparty to the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for 
impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are specific circumstances 
indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the company. no provision has been made for doubtful debts.

the balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are considered to 
be of high credit quality. overdue debtors from members for membership fees are expected to be recovered in 
full. overdue debts from sponsorship providers are not expected to be paid until immediately prior to the event 
being sponsored and are expected to be recovered in full.

gross 
Amount

past 
due and 
Impaired

past due but not Impaired  
(days Overdue)

<30 31-60 61-90 >90

2014 $ $ $ $ $ $

Accounts Receivable members  663,728 0  424,976  0   0  238,752 

Events sponsorship debtors  255,545 0  37,275  46,900  77,000  94,370 

other  191,165 0  144,115  1,570  13,168  32,312 

total  1,110,438 0  606,366  48,470  90,168  365,434 

30 June 2014 30 June 2013

note Level 1 Level 1

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

investments in managed funds 7 9,660,573 8,641,638

total financial assets recognised at fair value 9,660,573 8,641,638

valuation techniques

the company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
is available to measure fair value. the availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on the specific 
characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. the valuation technique selected by the company is 
consistent with the following valuation approach:

Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market 
transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities.
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